
Please ask for  Julie Britton DDI (01362) 656343 
e-mail: julie.britton@breckland.gov.uk 

 

 
AGENDA 

 
 
 

NOTE: In the case of non-members, this agenda is for information only 

 
 
 

Committee - LOCAL PLAN WORKING GROUP 

Date & Time - TUESDAY, 30TH SEPTEMBER, 
2014 AT 10.00 AM 

Venue - NORFOLK ROOM, THE 
CONFERENCE SUITE, DEREHAM 

 
 
 
 
 

Members of the Working Group 
  
Mr M.A. Kiddle-Morris 
Mrs L.S. Turner 
 

Mr M. A. Wassell (Chairman) 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 

PERSONS ATTENDING THE MEETING ARE PERSONS ATTENDING THE MEETING ARE PERSONS ATTENDING THE MEETING ARE PERSONS ATTENDING THE MEETING ARE 

REQUESTED TO TURN OFF MOBREQUESTED TO TURN OFF MOBREQUESTED TO TURN OFF MOBREQUESTED TO TURN OFF MOBILE TELEPHONESILE TELEPHONESILE TELEPHONESILE TELEPHONES    

Member Services  
Elizabeth House, Walpole Loke, 
Dereham Norfolk, NR19 1EE 
 

 

Date: 22 September 2014  
 
 
 

Public Document Pack



Local Plan Working Group 
01 September 2014 

 

 

 

PART A - ITEMS OPEN TO THE PUBLIC 

 

 Page(s) 
herewith 

 

1. MINUTES  To Follow 

 To confirm the Minutes of the meeting held on 9 September 2014.  
 

 

2. APOLOGIES   

 To receive any apologies for absence.  
 

 

3. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST   

 Members are reminded that under the Code of Conduct they are not to 
participate and must leave the room, for the whole of an agenda item to 
which they have a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest.  
 
In the interests of transparency, Members may also wish to declare any 
other interests they have in relation to an agenda item, that support the 
Nolan principles detailed within the Code of Conduct. 
 

 

4. URGENT BUSINESS   

 To note whether the Chairman proposes to accept any item as urgent 
business, pursuant to Section 100(B)(4)(b) of the Local Government Act 
1972.  
 

 

5. NON MEMBERS WISHING TO ADDRESS THE MEETING   

 To note the names of any non-members who wish to address the 
meeting.  
 

 

6. CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS (IF ANY)   

7. ATTLEBOROUGH NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN (ANP) (STANDING 
ITEM)  

 

8. BRECKLAND LOCAL PLAN ISSUES & OPTIONS DOCUMENT  1 - 23 

 Report of the Executive Member for Assets & Strategic Development. 
 
Please note that Appendix B (Market Towns) will be published separately 
due to its size.  (Paper copies will be available for Members at the 
meeting). 
  
 

 

 



BRECKLAND COUNCIL

Report of: Mark Kiddle-Morris, Executive Member for Assets and Strategic Development

To:    Local Plan Working Group: 30th September 2014 

Author:  Sarah Robertson, Planning Policy Officer (Capita) 

Subject: Breckland Local Plan Issues and Options Document 

Purpose: The purpose of this report is to inform Members of the progress to date on the 
issues and options document of the Local Plan. 

Recommendation(s): It is recommended that Members note the content of this report 
and that it forms the basis of the discussion at the working group. 

1.0 Background

1.1 Members will be aware that this is the third Local Plan Working Group to consider the 
issues and options consultation document of the Local Plan.  This meeting will consider the 
following key issues: 

Updated sections following Local Plan Working Group on 9th September 
Approach to the Market Towns 
Natural and Historical Environment 
Plan wide viability 
Consultation Methods 

1.2 Following the discussion at the previous working group, the issues and options document 
has been updated to reflect Members views. The sections are attached at Appendix A, 
however the key updates relate to Members wishes that the document be more responsive 
to local circumstances and visionary. Additional text has been added to the Strategy for the 
Countryside section around the opportunities to enhance social sustainability by potentially 
developing a sensitive approach to local rural housing and that it be more responsive to 
local circumstances as advocated in paragraph 54 of the NPPF. Further text has also been 
added outlining the Council’s preference to encourage rural enterprise and the 
opportunities that changes in society and technology bring, in particular access to rural 
broadband. This includes both information around rural enterprises and also those workers 
who have an essential need to live near their place of work. At the last Local Plan Working 
Group a breakdown was requested of Breckland’s population distribution between towns 
and local service centre villages. This is included at appendix E of this report. 

Approach to the Market Towns 

1.3 The existing Core Strategy and Development Control Policies DPD included a focused 
development pattern which saw the majority of new housing development allocated to the 
districts five market towns and particularly Thetford and Attleborough. Thetford as the key 
centre for development and change will see the development of a Strategic Urban 
Extension with 5,000 new dwellings. This application has the decision to grant outline 
planning permission subject to the section 106 being agreed. Attleborough was defined as 
a market town for substantial growth with an allocation for 4,000 new dwellings. The other 
three market towns all received lower levels of growth, which was reflective of their 
infrastructure capacities. 

Agenda Item 8

1



1.4 When Cabinet agreed to prepare a new District wide Local Plan this was determined 
subject to further information being provided within the issues and options consultation as 
to progress particularly on Attleborough. Members will recall that an area action plan was 
originally intended to be prepared for the town and an initial issues and options consultation 
on this had occurred previously. This Local Plan issues and options document provides an 
update on the planning status of each of the Districts five market towns and the progress 
which has been against the objectives of the Core Strategy and Development Control 
Policies DPD. This is summarised in the following paragraphs. 

1.5 Significant new evidence has been completed for Attleborough. Previously proposed 
growth locations for the urban extension to the south of the town were consulted upon. 
Having reviewed the consultation responses it is considered that land to the south-west of 
the town is the most suitable location for development. This land has good links to the town 
centre, is close to the Breckland Lodge roundabout which allows both northbound and 
southbound access onto the A11, it also has a lower landscape sensitivity than other parts 
of the town. In relation to new evidence, three transport studies have been completed for 
the town. These look at the location of a new link road, town centre improvements and 
smarter choices to promote other transport options other than car. This evidence suggests 
that a link road to the south west of the town is deliverable.  

1.6 The Attleborough chapter also provides further information around land availability for both 
residential and employment land. Furthermore, since the area action plan for the town was 
proposed, the town council have applied to prepare a neighbourhood plan for the area. The 
town council have indicated that the neighbourhood plan will consider 

Proposals for the key area of change at the former Gaymers Cider works 
Social infrastructure with specific regard to health and social care 
Sports and leisure provision 

1.7 Thetford was defined as a key centre for development and change through the Core 
Strategy and Development Control Policies DPD. The Thetford Area Action Plan (TAAP) 
was adopted in 2012 and the outline planning application for the sustainable urban 
extension was given the decision to grant subject to the approval of the s106 agreement in 
April this year. The Thetford chapter of the issues and options consultation includes 
information on the policies within the TAAP and how they should migrate into the new Local 
Plan. Similarly to Attleborough, this chapter also considers the role of the neighbourhood 
plan which will cover Croxton, Brettenham and Kilverstone parishes. 

1.8 Dereham, Swaffham and Watton all received a positive housing allocation which was 
considered through the Site Specifics Policies and Proposals DPD. The towns received a 
lower level of growth than Attleborough and Thetford. The majority of the sites which were 
allocated have now either received planning permission or are subject to planning 
applications. The individual town chapters consider land availability for housing, 
employment requirements and the natural environment. 

Protection of Habitats and Species

1.9 National legislation and the NPPF place a duty on Local Authorities to consider biodiversity 
through their Local Plans.  Breckland has a range of important sites and habitats for 
biodiversity, recognised through designations, from international to local importance, and 
through local Biodiversity Actions Plans (BAP’s).  Some of these are also of geological 
importance. The Local Plan needs to provide appropriate protection, having regard to the 
importance of these sites, and seek opportunities for biodiversity enhancement and the 
creation of new habitat through development.   

2



1.10 Breckland contains the Brecks (along with other authorities namely Borough Council of 
King’s Lynn and West Norfolk, St. Edmundsbury Borough Council and Forest Heath District 
Council) and was designated a Special Protection Area (SPA) under the European 
Directive on the Conservation of Wild Birds.  The Brecks is home to ground nesting birds 
such as Stone Curlew, Woodlark and Nightjar and are afforded protection through policy 
CP10 ‘Natural Environment’ of the adopted Core Strategy. The adopted policy mitigation 
requires that new development will only be permitted within 1,500 m of the SPA which is 
capable of supporting stone curlew if it can be demonstrated through a appropriate 
assessment (under the Habitat Regulations), that there will be no adverse effect on its 
qualifying features. 

1.11 Members will be aware that in the Council commissioned Footprint Ecology to undertake 
additional research on the effects of development of stone curlew to build upon research 
undertaken in 2008 which supported the Council’s Core Strategy. The 2013 study confirms 
the following: 

 The 1500m stone curlew buffer zone as per CP10 of the adopted Core Strategy 
remains a valid policy response. 

 There was an increase in the number of nests recorded outside of the SPA. As a result, 
the Local Plan may need to revise the ‘blue constraint zone’ on the Local Plan Policies 
map.

 The planting of woodland/screening as a mitigation measure is unlikely to be effective. 

 Larger settlement tends to be associated with a greater reduction in nest density on 
arable land. 

 Evidence to suggest whilst the stone curlew population has increased there is 
continued avoidance of nesting close to built up areas. 

1.12 One of the key aims of the research was to differentiate the effects of nest density due to 
different building classes.  The research indicates that there was no evidence of a negative 
impact of agricultural or commercial buildings. As such, the research suggests an element 
of flexibility for non residential development although caution should be applied due to the 
sample size and number of buildings identified. 

1.13 The Issues and Options acknowledge the legislative requirements surrounding the 
 protection of habitats and species within the district which will follow through to the Local 
 Plan. However, the document explores a more flexible approach to non residential 
 development within the SPA in order to support rural enterprise.   

Protection of Non Statutory Sites 

1.14 Many sites of nature conservation and heritage assets within the district have international 
and national statutory protection.  Others have no statutory protection, but are considered 
of significant local importance that should be given proper weight when considering 
proposals that affect their natural or historic interest.  The NPPF says that heritage assets 
should be conserved in a manner appropriate to their significance, so that they can be 
enjoyed for their contribution to the quality of life of this and future generations.  
Furthermore, local policy should make distinctions between the hierarchy of international, 
national and locally designated sites so that protection can be commensurate with their 
status.

1.15 Understanding the quality and contribution of Breckland’s non statutory assets will enable 
informed decisions to be made to development proposals that effect the natural and historic 
qualities of the district.  It is the intention that the Issues and Options document seek views 

3



on non designated nature conservation sites and heritage assets within the district which 
require protection through local policy.   

Open Space  

1.16 The provision of robust and up-to-date assessments of the need for open space, sports and 
recreation facilities and opportunities for new provision is a key objective to promote healthy 
communities within national policy.  In line with the NPPF, the Council is undertaking a new 
Open Space Assessment which will identify specific needs, including quantitative or 
qualitative deficits or surpluses of open space, sports and recreational facilities in the local 
area.  Information gained from the area should be used to determine what open space, 
sports and recreation provision is required whilst recommending a policy approach for the 
Local Plan for the protection and provision of open space.  

1.17 To support the new Open Space Assessment it is important that the views of the local 
community are sought, particularly regarding the appropriate protection and provision of 
open space, sport and recreation facilities within their parish or district as a whole.   The 
Issues and Options document proposes to seek community views on current provision and 
future need and demand of open space within Breckland.  Additionally, any sites that the 
Council should consider as Local Green Designation, a new open space designation as 
introduced by the NPPF.

Plan wide viability  

1.18  The NPPF requires authorities to take viability and deliverability into account through the 
plan making process. The intention is that this will ensure that the scale of obligations and 
policy burdens on development will not threaten development coming forward. This issues 
and options consultation considers the information provided within the Harman Guidance to 
assess Local Plan viability. This guidance advocates an approach to viability based on 
threshold land values. The issues and options consultation seeks stakeholders views on 
the assumptions which will be used to test viability. 

Approach to Consultation

1.33 It is proposed to carry out a six week consultation on the issues and options Local Plan 
starting in early November. The Council agreed a Statement of Community Involvement 
(SCI) in 2013 which provides the guidelines for the consultation process. The SCI sets out 
that the consultation should last six week and will be advertised both through the local 
press and on the Councils website. Correspondence will be sent to all key stakeholders, 
including parish councils, adjoining authorities, duty to co-operate bodies and members of 
the public who have previously expressed an interest in the Local Plan process. Documents 
will also be placed in all of Breckland’s key contact centres. Finally we will also make use of 
the Council’s online consultation portal. All comments received will be entered onto the 
portal so they are publically viewable. 

2.0 OPTIONS 

2.1 As the recommendation is to note the content of the report, no options are presented here.

3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S) 

3.1 The issues and options document is an ongoing piece of work, with the first full consultation 
expected to occur late October – November subject to agreement from Cabinet. It is the 

4



intention that the discussion at the Local Plan Working Group on this third section will feed 
into the document.

4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS 

4.1 The NPPF requires Local Authorities to prepare Local Plans. The issues and options 
consultation will be the first stage in the preparation of the new Local Plan. 

5.0 IMPLICATIONS 

5.1 Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues 

5.1.1 It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications.

5.2 Constitution & Legal 

5.2.1 There are no direct legal risks resulting from the contents of this report; however, Local 
Planning documents need to be prepared in accordance with relevant Local Planning 
Regulations and Acts of Parliament, having regard to relevant considerations and case-law. 

5.3 Contracts

5.3.1 It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications.

5.4 Corporate Priorities

5.4.1 This Local Plan aligns with the following corporate priorities: 
To have pride in Breckland 
To develop stronger communities 
To support our local economy 

5.5 Crime and Disorder

5.5.1 It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications.

5.6 Equality and Diversity / Human Rights

5.6.1 It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications.

5.7 Financial

5.7.1 It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications.

5.8 Health & Wellbeing 

5.8.1 It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications.

5.9 Risk Management 

5.9.1 There are a number of potential risks to the delivery of the issues and options document for 
the Local Plan. The key risks are delays in the delivery of the evidence base, particularly 
the joint Strategic Housing Market Assessment (SHMA) and the Retail and Town Centre 
Study. Though at the time of writing these projects were running to schedule and there was 
no indication of further delay to the SHMA. 

5



5.9.2 There are potential risks to changes in national policy and revisions to National Planning 
Policy Guidance.

5.10 Staffing

5.10.1 It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications.

5.11 Stakeholders / Consultation / Timescales

5.11.1 The first consultation on the issues and options Local Plan will occur in October and 
November 2014, subject to agreement from the Council’s Cabinet.

6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED 

6.1 All wards in Breckland will be affected by the Local Plan 

7.0 ACRONYMS  

7.1 NPPF: National Planning Policy Framework 
7.2 SPA: Special Protection Area 
7.3 BAP: Biodiversity Action Plan 
7.4 NPPF National Planning Policy Framework  
7.5 PPG: Planning Policy Guidance  

Background papers:

Lead Contact Officer 
Name and Post: Sarah Robertson, Planning Policy Officer (Capita) 
Telephone Number: 01362 656 857 
Email: sarah.robertson@capita.co.uk 

Director / Officer who will be attending the Meeting 
Iain Withington, Planning Policy Team Leader (Capita) 
Sarah Robertson, Planning Policy Officer (Capita) 
Jamie Smith, Planning Policy Officer (Capita) 

Key Decision: Yes

Exempt Decision: No

Appendices attached to this report:
Appendix A: Updated draft sections from LPWG 09/09/14 
Appendix B: Market Towns  
Appendix C: Natural Environment 
Appendix D: Implementation and Viability  
Appendix E: Parish Population Breakdown 

6



8 Spatial Strategy

8.1 Spatial Strategy

8.2 Market Towns

8.2.1 Attleborough

8.2.2 Dereham

8.2.3 Swaffham

8.2.4 Thetford

8.2.5 Watton

8.3 Service Centres

8.4 Rural Settlements and Countryside

Issue 1

Strategy for Rural Settlements

8.1 Breckland contains a good number of small rural villages that have few, or in some cases no, local services

and facilities. The current strategy considers that these settlements are not capable of sustaining consequential

growth as many are completely reliant on higher order settlements for services and facilities. There was only

nominal housing and employment growth planned under the current strategy where it deemed have capacity.

8.2 The current approach for rural settlements as adopted though the Core Strategy is identified in Table 8.1

'Breckland adopted Core Strategy approach to Rural Settlements'.

Current Core Strategy PolicySettlementCategory

Policy SS1, Policy CP1, Policy

CP14, Policy DC18 (see policy

synopsis in chapter 8.3).

Ashill, Bawdeswell, Beeston, Beetley, Besthorpe, Bintree, Bradenham,

Brisley, Carbrooke, Caston, Cockley Cley, Colkirk, Croxton, East

Tuddenham, Foulden, Foxley, Garboldisham, Garvestone,

Rural Settlements

(with settlement

boundaries)

Gooderstone, Great Dunham, Gressenhall, Griston, Guist, Hockering,

Hockham, Ickburgh, Kenninghall, Little Cressingham, Longham, Lyng,

Mileham, New Buckenham, North Lopham, North Pickenham,

Rocklands, Quidenham, Scarning, Shropham, Snetterton, Sparham,

Sporle, Stanfield, Stow Bedon, Thompson,Weasenham,Whissonsett,

Yaxham.

Table 8.1 Breckland adopted Core Strategy approach to Rural Settlements

8.3 These settlements currently all contain settlement boundaries which allow for the development of residential

development within these boundaries. Outside of the settlement boundary, regardless of the proximity to the

settlement boundary, new market housing development is restricted. Any new development within settlement

boundaries has through the Core Strategy been considered to be windfall in nature.

1Breckland Local Plan Issues and Options Draft September 20147



8.4 The Local Plan has the potential in the future to differ the approach to the smaller rural settlements within

Breckland. A key issue which needs to be considered within the Local Plan is the role of settlement boundaries.

As discussed, these have previously been used to designate where the principle of new private dwellings are

acceptable. The Local Plan provides an opportunity to reconsider the role of settlement boundaries and whether

the district wishes to retain them, or whether an approach of assessing houses individually is more acceptable.

Importantly the Local Plan, as identified within the Spatial Strategy, offers the opportunity for a more dispersed

pattern of growth. This could include increased growth levels within these settlements.

8.5 The Local Plan allows the Council to reconsider the role of settlement boundaries within these villages. There

are advantages and disadvantages to the retention of settlement boundaries within villages not designated as a

Local Service Centre. Settlement boundaries may often be considered to give local communities a level of certainty

as to the acceptability of the location of new market dwellings. They concentrate development in areas which have

been assessed to be sustainable locations, this often includes places where there is a certain level of service

provision to support the day to day needs of the population. A disadvantage of settlement boundaries is that they

can often be considered to be an inflexible tool to define areas that are acceptable for the development of new

market dwellings, and restrict the natural growth to meet local needs. However with out them it could lead to

incremental development on the edge of settlements.

8.6 The NPPF says that "..Working with the support of their communities, local planning authorities should

consider whether the opportunities of extension to villages and towns provide the best way forward achieving

sustainable development. In paragraph 55 the NPPF recognises the role of clusters of settlements within an area,

stating " ... To promote sustainable development in rural areas, housing should be located where it will enhance

or maintain the vitality of rural communities ....where there are groups of smaller settlements, development in one

village may support services in a village nearby."The Council could consider the role of functional areas in these

smaller rural settlements. The Local Plan could review the functional areas of groups of villages and consider the

way in which their functions support each other as a local service centre . For instances a school in one parish

may have been supported by housing development within a nearby settlements. The advantages of this approach

is that it allows a level of housing growth across a wider number of parishes, allow for greater flexibility in the role

of rural settlements to accommodate growth. However, due to the geographical size of Breckland District, when

considering clusters of settlements there is likely to be the need to drive between the individual settlements and

the grouping of settlements to act as one Local Service Centre could only happen if they are in reasonable distance

to one another.

8.7 Within Breckland, Beetley and Gressenhall could be an example of a settlement cluster. The two villages

are located to the north of Dereham, and in some places there is less than 600m between the two settlement

boundaries. In terms of services and facilities, Beetley contains a primary school, community facilities, a restaurant,

public transport and local employment facilities. Gressenhall currently contains a post office, shop, public house

and has public transport facilities. It will be important to consider the way in which these services and facilities

work together to support housing development and vice versa. This approach would offer a very different option

to growth than has previously been identified.

Option 1

Continue to define settlement boundaries.

Option 2

Take amore flexible approach to accommodate growth that would allow development proposals to be assessed

against criteria-based polices, with no development boundaries.

Breckland Local Plan Issues and Options Draft September 20142

8

8



Option 3

Review and designate clusters of settlements which act as wider functional zones.

Question 1

Do you consider settlement boundaries remain a relevant and appropriate option for delineating areas where

new development is appropriate?

Question 2

Do you consider rural settlement(s) could potentially contribute to future growth through the concept of

functional areas and grouping of nearby villages?

If you are also submitting sites supporting your answer, please provide justifications.

8.8 Call for Sites

8.9 As part of the current consultation we are seeking information on sites in private ownership that may be

considered suitable for residential sites. Are you aware of any sites with potential for housing? If yes, please put

the sites forward using the "Call for Sites" form as specified in Call For Sites.

Issue 2

Strategy for Countryside

8.10 In addition to the rural settlements, Breckland contains a number of smaller villages and hamlets and large

areas of predominantly undeveloped agriculture land. These settlements contain either very few or no services

and facilities. The current strategy and accommodate for minimal development for these areas which predominantly

comprise the diversification of rural enterprises. It also allows some other employment uses in the countryside

where rural location is necessary for the functioning of the businesses or it utilises a particular attribute and is a

sustainable solution to an identified need. Table 8.2 'Breckland adopted Core Strategy approach to the Countryside'

illustrates the parishes which are located within the wider countryside.

3Breckland Local Plan Issues and Options Draft September 20149



Current Core Strategy

Policy

SettlementCategory

Policy SS1, Policy CP1,

Policy CP14, Policy DC18

(see policy synopsis in

chapter 8.3).

Beachamwell, Billingford, Blo' Norton, Brettenham, Bridgham,

Bylaugh, Cranwich, Cranworth, Didlington, Elsing, Gateley, Great

Cressingham, Hardingham, Hilborough, Hoe, Holme Hale,

Horningtoft, Kempstone, Kilverstone, Lexham, Lt Dunham, Little

Rural Settlements

(with no settlement

boundary)

Countryside Ellingham, Lynford, Merton, Narford, Newton by Castle Acre, North

Tuddenham, Ovington, Oxborough, Quidenham, Riddlesworth,

Roudham, Rougham, Scoulton, South Acre, South Lopham, South

Pickenham, Stanford, Sturston, Tottington, Twyford, Wellingham,

Wendling, Whinburgh, Wretham

Table 8.2 Breckland adopted Core Strategy approach to the Countryside

8.11 In light of national and existing local policy about building in the countryside new permanent dwellings are

only likely to be permitted to support existing business and where essential need has been established . Within

these parishes new residential development for market housing has been restricted. These villages do not have

settlement boundaries and lack the key services and facilities to support sustainable development and use of

private transport is a necessity in these areas. The current policy approach for any new residential development

comprises replacement dwellings, conversion of redundant buildings, rural affordable housing exception sites and

dwellings required in association with rural enterprises. The Council’s preference for rural workers accommodation

is for such workers to reside in nearby towns or villages or in existing properties nearby their place of work so

avoiding new and potentially intrusive development in the Countryside.

8.12 In addition to exploring opportunities to promote the rural economy as detailed in the Rural Economy section

of this document and the Spatial Strategy section, the Council would prefer to encourage more rural enterprise.

Changes to technology such as improvements to rural broadband also means more opportunities for working in

rural areas.

8.13 The existing approach is based upon a one size fits all strategy that restricts development in what are

considered unsustainable locations, ignoring development on a more localised basis, however paragraph 54 of

the NPPF advocates a more sensitive approach to rural housing, more responsive to local circumstances stating

that;

In rural areas, exercising the duty to cooperate with neighbouring authorities, local planning authorities should

be responsive to local circumstances and plan housing development to reflect local needs, particularly for

affordable housing, including through rural exception sites where appropriate. Local planning authorities

should in particular consider whether allowing somemarket housing would facilitate the provision of significant

additional affordable housing to meet local needs.

8.14 Ruling out whole categories of villages as unsustainable ignores the potential for enhancing the social

sustainability of many of Breckland’s smaller communities. By utilising a sensitive approach to rural housing, policy

could be developed that is more responsive to local circumstances, as per paragraph 54 of the NPPF. Given the

importance of providing housing to accommodate local people (and increases in home working), in addition to the

development of affordable housing policies, it could be considered that smaller villages should not be denied

development and that there should be a focus on housing to meet the needs of people with local connections.

8.15 The NPPF in paragraph 55 explicitly states that isolated homes in the countryside should be avoided

unless there are special circumstances such as:

The essential need for a rural worker to live permanently at or near their place of work in the countryside.

Breckland Local Plan Issues and Options Draft September 20144

8

10



8.16 It does not define rural worker, however this is traditionally taken to mean those associated with agricultural,

forestry and fishing. With this economic sector predicted to decline in the plan period the Council could look to

review this area in order to support the diversification and new places to work as detailed in the Rural Economy

section.

8.17 There are a number of ways the Local Plan could help promote Breckland's Countryside, the Council could:

Option 4

Continue with the current approach.

Option 5

Seek a more flexible approach around the approach to rural housing including clarifying the definition of rural

worker based on a more local approach?

8.18 In considering whether the countryside should play a more important role in terms of accommodating

growth:

Question 3

Which option or options should the Council consider?

Are there any other reasonable alternative approaches?

5Breckland Local Plan Issues and Options Draft September 201411



7 Natural and Historic Environment

7.1 The NPPF encourages the planning system to contribute to, and enhance the local environment by protecting

and enhancing valued landscapes and geological conservation interests. It states that plan makers should recognise

the ‘intrinsic character and beauty of the countryside’.

7.2 Breckland is a diverse district for biodiversity, geodiversity and landscape qualities. The district is characterised

by mixed landscape characters of ‘settled’ and ‘plateau’ farmland to the north. The landscape changes to the west

and south of the district, where the Brecks contains extensive areas of heathland within a forest and arable context.

A significant proportion of the Brecks is designated as a European protected site, forming the largest terrestrial

protected area in Norfolk. The heathland serves as an important habitat designated for its suitability to support

Internationally important bird species, particularly stone curlew, woodlark and nightjar.

7.3 Breckland contains a wealth of other protected areas such as Redgrave and South Lopham Fen which is

one of only four sites within Norfolk designated under the Ramsar Convention of Wetlands of International

Importance. Breckland is also home to four sites of International importance for biodiversity known as Special

Area of Conservation (SAC) which are the most important sites for wildlife in the country. These are the Norfolk

Valley Fens, River Wensum and Waveney and Little Ouse Valley Fens. Within Breckland, there are three Local

Nature Reserves (lLNR), at Litcham Common (area of varied heathland), Great Eastern Pingo Trail situated

between Stow Bedon and Hockham (a mix of wetlands, woodlands and grasslands) and grass heathland at

Barnham Cross Common in Thetford. The latter is also designated as a Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI),

SAC and located within the Breckland Special protection Area (SPA).

7.4 Parts of the district are characterised by river valleys including the Wensum, Norfolk Valley Fens, Waveney

and the Little Ouse Valley Fens which have extensive areas of wetland habitats, comprised mainly of grazing

marsh with areas of fen and reedbed. Many of these rivers are recognised as chalk streams where some of these

habitats are European protected sites and identified as a SAC. Furthermore, the district contains arable landscape

features, comprising of distinctive Scots Pine shelterbelts, hedgerows, copses and field margins. These features

are key components of the ecological network at a local scale, and collectively they amount to a significant

biodiversity resource.

7.5 The Brecks is a significant tourist attraction due to its multiple uses for recreation and wildlife conservation.

Thetford forest forms the largest area of lowland woodland in England and is considered of high recreation value.

Thetford forest has the capacity to increase its contribution as a regional, national and local recreation resource,

which as a result, may reduce the levels of tranquillity and is at risk of causing disturbance and damage to the

important habitats.

7.6 The natural environment is constantly evolving through natural and man-made interventions and it is important

that such change is managed in a way that maintains and enhances biodiversity and the landscape’s unique and

special qualities.

Issue 8

Protection of habitats and species

7.7 Covering 39,141 ha of heathland, forest and arable farmland, the Brecks is of International and European

value to birdlife. The Brecks habitat is important for a range of characteristic ground nesting birds such as stone

curlew, woodlark and nightjar. The site was designated as a SPA under the European Council’s Directive on the

Conservation of Wild Birds. The East of England supports 65% of the UK’s breeding pairs of stone curlew where

Breckland Local Plan Issues and Options Draft August 201456

7

12



most breeding in located within the Brecks. The rich biodiversity of the Brecks is also recognised by many other

statutory conservation designations which include four SAC, numerous SSSI and National Nature Reserves (NNR),

where the latter (NNRs and SSSIs) which make up 40% of the total area.

7.8 Evidence to support the adoption of the Core Strategy in 2009 resulted in research which examined the

effects of housing and roads on the distribution of stone curlew in the Brecks. The research was required to inform

the Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA) of the Core Strategy, which subject to the imposition of suitable policy

mitigation, enabled the Core Strategy to be progressed through to adoption.

7.9 The adopted policy mitigation required that new development it will only be permitted within 1,500m of the

SPA that are suitable for stone curlew if can be demonstrated through an appropriate assessment, under the

Habitat Regulations, that there will be no adverse impact on the qualifying features. In applying this policy, the

Council defined a buffer zone (orange hatch) on Map 7.1 '1500m Buffers around Special Protection Areas with

Stone Curlews'' that extends 1,500m from the edge of those parts of the SPA that are capable of supporting stone

curlew. Beyond the SPA boundary, there are areas where there are concentrations of stone curlew (5 or more

nests recorded) and these areas have been identified (blue hatch) on Map 7.1 '1500m Buffers around Special

Protection Areas with Stone Curlews'. In the blue hatched area, development may be acceptable providing

alternative land outside the SPA can be secured to mitigate the potential affects.

7.10 Further research was undertaken in 2013 confirms that the 1,500m stone curlew buffer zone (as per the

adopted Core Strategy) remains a valid policy response. Furthermore, this research found an increase in the

number of nests recorded outside of the SPA. As a result, the Local Plan may need to revise the (blue constraint

zone) on future Local Plan Policies map. The 2013 research also suggests that the planting of woodland/screening

as a mitigation measure is unlikely to be effective and that the effect of nest density is strongest as a result of the

amount of buildings rather than type.

7.11 One of the key aims of the research was to differentiate the effects of nest density due to different building

classes. Due to the sample size and number of buildings identified there need to be an element of caution applied

to the results, however, the research indicants that there was no evidence of a negative impact of agricultural or

commercial buildings. As such, the analysis suggests an element of flexibility could be applied for non residential

development in the SPA buffer zones.

57Breckland Local Plan Issues and Options Draft August 201413



Map 7.1 1500mBuffers around Special Protection Areaswith Stone

Curlews

Question 26

The Council will need to ensure the strategy in the Local Plan avoids harm to European sites but evidence

could indicate a more flexible approach to non residential development. How might the council respond to

this challenge?

Breckland Local Plan Issues and Options Draft August 201458

7

14



Issue 9

Protection on of non statutory sites

7.12 Non statutory heritage assets and areas for nature conservation play an essential role in reinforcing a sense

of local character and distinctiveness in the historic environment and complement national and international

designated sites. Within Breckland, there are over 400 County wildlife Sites (CWS) considered to be of value for

wildlife in a county context. Breckland also contains one County Geodiversity Site (CGS) at Newton by Castle

Acre Chalk Pit which is designated for its geodiversity value. The district also contains a number of ancient

woodlands and individual veteran trees. These areas support both locally and nationally threatened wildlife, and

many sites will contain habitats and species that are priorities under the County or UK Biodiversity Action Plans

(BAP). Additionally, whilst many heritage assets within Breckland have statutory protection, there are a number

of other heritage assets which play an essential role in reinforcing a sense of local character and distinctiveness

in the historic environment.

7.13 Breckland includes extensive parts of the nationally and regionally significant Brecks heaths and woodland

in the south and west of the District, whose importance has been reinforced by the Brecks Landscape Character

Assessment (LCA, 2013). The LCA identified eight distinct, and sensitive valued character areas within the Brecks

with the core landscape types being the Brecks Arable Heathland Mosaic, the Brecks Plantation and the River

Valleys. These areas range from conserving the natural, wild character of the heathland landscape of the Brecks

Arable Heathland Mosaic to understanding that the river valley is vulnerable to change. The report reaffirms the

approach adopted within the Council’s existing Policy on landscape (namely CP11), but also builds upon the

existing District-wide LCA (2007). The study also provides guidance for managing change in the district and will

also have relevance to development management decisions in the area.

7.14 Elsewhere, the District is generally characterised by river valleys with their associated tributary farmland

ranging form the Lophams in the south-east up to Colkirk in the north-west of the district. The landscape provides

a 'sense of place' for Breckland which is rich in natural and man made features such as heaths, woodlands, rivers,

streams and other topographical features. These landscape assets are also considered to make an important

contribution to biodiversity in the district and act as green infrastructure corridors. Evidence to support the Local

Plan suggests that high protection should be given to the Brecks landscape, River Valleys and Chalk Rivers due

to their landscape qualities.

7.15 Development that takes place outside settlements or in the wider landscape can introduce urban elements

into a predominantly rural landscape, risking the loss of local landscape features such as trees, field ponds and

hedgerow patterns. Additionally, development can threaten the function of the landscape, undiscovered or

undesignated heritage assets and can be a threat to biodiversity. Overall, such development is likely to change

the character of the landscape. In a local context, Breckland has seen an increasing number of planning applications

for commercial scale new renewable energy schemes in recent years. These particular relate to photovoltaic solar

farms and wind turbines.

7.16 The NPPF states that Local Plans should provide a positive strategy where policies should :

Make distinctions between the hierarchy of international, national and locally designated sites so that protection

is commensurate with their status.

Conserve heritage assets in a manner appropriate to their significance.

Maximise and support renewable and low carbon energy.

59Breckland Local Plan Issues and Options Draft August 201415



7.17 Understanding the quality of and contribution of Breckland's non statutory assets will enable informed

decisions to be made to development proposals effecting natural and historic qualities and guide planning and

management of the district.

Question 27

Are there any non designated sites which require protection through local policy?

Open Space

7.18 Open space, sport and recreation facilities can include (for example) common land, parks and gardens,

sports pitches, children’s play areas, allotments, town squares and village greens. These natural green open

spaces are important to our quality of life. They provide a wide range of benefits for people and the environment.

Access to open space for fresh air and exercise has benefits for both physical and mental health. This can have

a direct health benefits in terms of reductions in levels of heart disease, obesity and depression where people live

close to open space. Also this benefit can be for more than those who live close to open space, or, people may

be willing to travel to access open space, particularly a good facility. Overall, the lack of quantity and quality of

open space can have negative impacts and people and their environment. In addition to the ecological value of

open space, it also contributes to the adaption of climate through their role in reducing the risk of flooding and by

cooling the local environment. Where trees are present they also act as filters for air pollution. Nature nearby is

good for people, good for wildlife and good for the environment.

7.19 Breckland published an Open Space Assessment in 2007 which was used to support Policy DC11 ‘Open

Space’ within the adopted Core Strategy and Development and Control Policies (2009). The approach to Policy

DC11 was to protect existing facilities and requiring development of new facilities through planning. The Open

Space Assessment was updated in 2010 to support Core Strategy Policy , however following the publication of

the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) on 27th March 2012 there have been changes to National planning

policy. Furthermore, the planning of open space is an iterative process as it will need to take in to account population

projections, new open space provided as part of development and any changes in national benchmarking standards.

7.20 In order to support the Breckland Local Plan, the Council are commencing a new Open Space Assessment

that will take account of national and local changes and will evaluate the quantity, quality and accessibility of open

space and recreational land provision in the district. The assessment will recommend standards and effective

mechanisms in order for appropriate provision to be secured to meet future needs.

7.21 Under the promoting healthy communities theme of the NPPF, it is set out that planning policies should be

based on robust and up-to-date assessments of the needs for open space, sports and recreation facilities

and opportunities for new provision ….The assessments should identify specific needs and quantitative or

qualitative deficits or surpluses of open space, sports and recreational facilities in the local area. Information

gained form the area should be used to determine what open, space, sports and recreation provision is required’.

7.22 The NPPF also states that open space, sports and recreational buildings and land, including playing fields,

should not be built on unless:

An assessment has been undertaken which has clearly shown the open Space, buildings or land to be surplus

to requirements; or

Replacement by equivalent or better provision in terms of quality and quantity in a suitable location; or

The need for and benefits of the development clearly outweigh the loss.

Breckland Local Plan Issues and Options Draft August 201460

7

16



7.23 Overall, the NPPF recognises the role that access to high quality open space and opportunities for sport

and recreation plays in the health and wellbeing of communities. It sets out the need for planning policies to protect

open spaces to be based on robust and up to date assessments of the needs for open spaces, sports and recreation

facilities.

7.24 To support a new Open Space Assessment, it is important that the views of the local community are sought,

particularly regarding the appropriate protection and provision of open space, sport and recreation facilities within

their parish or district as a whole. Consultation with Parish Council's has already commenced and we are seeking

community views on current provision and future need and demand of open space within Breckland.

Question 28

What are your views on the current provision and future need and demand of open space within the parish

in which you live? Do these facilities best address the open space needs of the parish? Please provide

additional details including any site(s) identified on a map.

7.25 The NPPF has introduced a new designation of Local Green Space to identify and protect areas of green

areas of particular importance to a local community. An issue for the Open Space Assessment and Local Plan is

to identify Local Green Space and the Issues and Option consultation is an opportunity for local communities to

suggest where such spaces should be identified that meet the tests in the NPPF which state that the designation

should be:

Where the green space is reasonable close proximity to the community where it serves;

Where the green area is demonstrably special to a local community and holds a particular local significance,

for example because of its beauty, historic significance, recreational value (including as a playing field),

tranquillity of its richness of its wildlife; and

Where the green area concerned is local character and is not an extensive tract of land.

Question 29

Are there any sites that you would like the Council to consider as Local Green Designation? If so, please

provide details including any site(s) identified on a map.

61Breckland Local Plan Issues and Options Draft August 201417



9 Implementation and Viability

Issue 1

Development funding and Implementation

9.1 In order to deliver the full requirements of the Local Plan, including infrastructure such as schools, open

space, roads, libraries and community facilities, it is necessary to consider an implementation strategy. The NPPF

requires Local Plans to ensure that there is a reasonable prospect of any planned infrastructure required for the

Plan to come forward within a timely manner. The Council currently has a significant amount of information relating

to infrastructure implementation, which was used to support the Local Development Framework. These documents

include an Integrated Delivery Programme (IDP), which includes a Local Investment Plan (LIP) and the EDAW

Growth and Infrastructure Study.

9.2 The IDP includes a list of 24 key projects within the District, which are shown below grouped together by

type. A number of these projects are already underway, however it is considered that they will still help to meet

the objectives of the Local Plan.

Transport projects: Attleborough town centre, Attleborough distributor road, Thetford A11 junctions, rural

transportation, Thetford bus station relocation

Housing projects: Estate regeneration in Thetford, improvements and adoptions to housing stock, rural

affordable housing, bringing empty stock back into use, and the provision of a gypsy and traveller site.

Energy projects: Snetterton energy supply, Thetford electricity

Education projects: Post-16 education in Thetford, Attleborough special needs education

Communication projects: rural broadband

Question 1

Are there any other key projects you think are necessary to assist in the delivery of growth.?

9.3 Ensuring there are appropriate levels of funding available for infrastructure delivery will be key to the successful

implementation of the local plan. In June 2014 the Council took the decision to halt the production of a Community

Infrastructure Levey for Breckland for the present time. The intention is now to continue the use of section 106

agreements to fund certain forms of on and off site infrastructure. This includes the need to secure affordable

housing through section 106 agreements.

9.4 Plan wide viability

9.5 In developing policies for the local plan it is important to consider viability. The duty to test in the NPPF is a

high level one, stating that ‘plans should be deliverable’. It is not a requirement that every site should be able to

bear all of the local authority’s policy requirements and be “financially viable”; there will be some sites that are

unviable even with no policy of the local authority. A typical site in the local authority should be able to bear the

policy requirements and the Council should be able to show, with a reasonable degree of confidence that the Local

Plan is deliverable, providing a high level assurance that the polices within the plan are set in a way that is compatible

and realistic in the likely economic climate.

9.6 The NPPF includes the following requirements: Ensuring Viability and Deliverability; Paragraph 173 -174

1Breckland Local Plan Issues and Options Draft September 2014 18



Pursuing sustainable development requires careful attention to viability and costs in plan-making and

decision-taking. Plans should be deliverable. Therefore, the sites and the scale of development identified in

the plan should not be subject to such a scale of obligations and policy burdens that their ability to be developed

viably is threatened. To ensure viability, the costs of any requirements likely to be applied to development,

such as requirements for affordable housing, standards, infrastructure contributions or other requirements

should, when taking account of the normal cost of development and mitigation, provide competitive returns

to a willing land owner and willing developer to enable the development to be deliverable.

Local planning authorities should set out their policy on local standards in the Local Plan, including requirements

for affordable housing. They should assess the likely cumulative impacts on development in their area of all

existing and proposed local standards, supplementary planning documents and policies that support the

development plan, when added to nationally required standards. In order to be appropriate, the cumulative

impact of these standards and policies should not put implementation of the plan at serious risk, and

should facilitate development throughout the economic cycle. Evidence supporting the assessment should

be proportionate, using only appropriate available evidence.

9.7 As polices are developed in further iterations of the Local Plan they will therefor need to undergo viability

testing to ensure they do not put the delivery of sites at serious risk.

9.8 The primary role of a local plan viability assessment is to provide evidence to show that the requirements

set out within the NPPF are met. i.e that the policy requirements for development set out within the Local Plan do

not threaten the delivery / scale of development and that sites that the Local Pan will rely on can be developed

viably.

9.9 Where sites are not viable developers have scope to make site specific viability submissions at the planning

applications stage; similarly some sites will be able to bear considerably more than the policy requirements.

9.10 A viability study will run alongside the policy development within the Local Plan. This assessment can then

be used to help consider the level of risk that the proposed polices place on delivery and make a local judgement

on sticking a balance between the policy requirements that are seen as necessary in order to provide for sustainable

development and the realities of economic viability. Evidence should be proportionate and reflect the range of

different development; both residential and commercial, likely to come forward in an area and needed to underpin

the vision and delivery of the plan.

Issue 2

The assessment is an important part of evidence that will be taken into account in the formation of policies.

The purpose of the assessment is to help inform the preparation of the Local Plan so that the cumulative

impact of policies does not inhibit the delivery of sites upon which the plan relies, helping to strike a balance

between the three components of sustainable development that are at the heart of the planning system,

(economic, social and environmental), and the vision and aspirations of the local communities, striking a

balance between aspirational objectives with realistic and deliverable polices.

9.11 Guidance on how to undertake plan wide viability testing was published in June 2012 by the Local Housing

Delivery Group chaired by Sir John Harman and forms the basis of advice given by the DCLG funded Planning

Advisory Service (PAS). “Viability Testing in Local Plans - Advice for Planning Practitioners” which has subsequently

become known as the “Harman Guidance” advocates an approach based on Threshold Land Value for the testing

of Local Plans. It is important to keep in mind that assessing the potential viability of plan polices will not take the

same form nor share the same set of assumptions as a site-specific development appraisal.

Breckland Local Plan Issues and Options Draft September 20142

9

19



9.12 What is termed a competitive return is subjective and has not been defined through the planning examination

or legal process. It must be recognised that there are many reasons for a landowner to sell and it is clear that there

needs to be a surplus which is sufficiently large to provide an incentive to the land owner to release the site and

cover appropriate costs, including planning policy costs, required to bring the site forward for development.

9.13 The Harman Guidance recommends that the Threshold Land Value is based on a premium over current

use values and credible alternative use values. It suggests that this is done through an iterative and collaborative

approach in order to establish the threshold levels. The basic viability methodology involves preparing financial

development appraisals for a representative range of sites utilising high level assumptions. It is stressed that this

is a high level and broad brush approach that seeks to capture the generality rather than the specific. The purpose

is to establish whether the sites within the Local Plan are generally viable. This information will help the council to

assess whether or not the sites are actually deliverable. Good quality information provided by Land owners/ site

promoters is vital to assist the testing of plan policy viability. The Harman Guidance states that:

Land owners and site promoters should be prepared to provide sufficient and good quality information

at an early stage, rather than waiting until the development management stage. This will allow an

informed judgement by the planning authority regarding the inclusion or otherwise of sites based on

their potential viability

9.14 Much work has already been done in this area and as the Council moved towards the introduction of the

Community Infrastructure Levy. Assumptions and values have been tested through the consultation on the

preliminary Draft Charging schedule in 2013. Many similar assumptions have been through examination by

neighbouring authorities in the region in the recent past and it is considered that they remain relevant and

proportionate , reflecting a range of different developments at this time.

Question 2

Do you have any reasoned and appropriate evidence that alternative assumptions including Threshold Values

should be considered?

Do you agree with the assumption proposed? If not please provide suitable existing and available evidence

for your justification.

Based on evidence prepared for the preliminary Draft Charging schedule in 20131.Threshold Value

For Zone A £432,000

For Zone B £371,000

£20,000 / ha for all typologies based on typical agricultural land values.2.Existing Use Value

20% GDV – based on previous agreed assumptions3.Developers Profit

4. Developers Costs

The build costs are based upon median BCIS rates, adjusted for Breckland and

Norfolk.

Build Costs

3Breckland Local Plan Issues and Options Draft September 2014 20



On the smaller modelled sites an allowance of an additional 5% is proposed to

reflect the higher specification that could be expected.

On Smaller modelled sites an allowance of an additional 5% reflecting the normal

higher specification.

Design

Sliding scale from large greenfield to small sites so as to reflect Strategic costs.

These will be reviewed against known requirements and should be broadly in

alignment with range suggested for larger sites in appendix B of the Harman

guidance.

Additional - Infrastructure

Costs

25% (500 + dwellings) 20% (200 dwellings +), 15% (50-200 dwellings), 10% (below

50 dwellings)

In addition there is an allowance for CIL

10% assumed for all typologies, broken down as:Fees

Architects 6%

Planning consultants 1%

Quantity surveying/project management costs 0.5%

Others 2.5%

3.5%, broken down as:Sales

Agent and marketing costs 3%

Legal 0.5%

Assumed an allowance of 1.5% for acquisition agents and legal fees. Stamp duty

is calculated at the prevailing rates

Site Acquisition

Assumed rate used in the emerging CIL Viability Assessments £1000 per unit on

development greater than 4 units. £750 per unit on developments less than 4 units

for on site contributions.

S106 Contributions

For developments Prior to CIL / without CIL assumed £2, 500 per unit

2.5% - 5%Contingency

6.5%Interest Rates for

Developer Finance

Based on the Draft Charging Schedule 2013 and in the event that CIL process is

re introduced . These rates are applied to all typologies:

5. CIL

Zone A - £60m
2

Breckland Local Plan Issues and Options Draft September 20144

9

21



Zone B - £0m

Zone A: The east of the district and includes the market towns of Dereham and

Attlebourgh.

Zone B: The west of the District and includes the market towns of Swaffham and

Watton

I

Table 9.1 Summary of Assumptions

5Breckland Local Plan Issues and Options Draft September 2014 22



Appendix E: Breckland Population Breakdown 

 

The 2011 census shows that Breckland has a total population of 130,491, this is an 

increase of just over 7% since 2001. 52% of Breckland’s population live in the five 

market towns, whilst a further 17% live within Breckland’s 14 Local Service Centre 

Villages. There has been a slight fall in the number living within the service centre 

villages since 2001. The following table shows the population change between 2001 

and 2011 and 2001.  

 

Parish 2001 Population 2011 Population 

Attleborough 9,702 10,482 

Dereham 15,659 18,609 

Swaffham 6,935 7,258 

Thetford 21,588 24,350 

Watton 6,819 7,202 

Market Towns Total 60,703 67,901 

Banham 1,443 1,481 

Great Ellingham 1,108 1,132 

Harling 2,201 2,142 

Litcham 592 618 

Mattishall 2,631 2,617 

Mundford 1,591 1,526 

Narborough 1,095 1,094 

Necton 1,865 1,923 

North Elmham 1,428 1,433 

Old Buckenham 1,294 1,270 

Saham Toney 1,565 1,507 

Shipdham 2,145 2,057 

Swanton Morley 2,415 2,100 

Weeting 1,751 1,839 

Local Service Centre Total 23,124 22,739 

Rest of District Total 37,591 39,851 

 

23


	Agenda
	8 Breckland Local Plan Issues & Options Document
	Appendix A Updated Sections
	Appendix C Natural Environment
	Appendix D Implementation and Viability
	Appendix E


